
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Case No.: ___________ 

Joshua Sindoni, Amy Sindoni, Vincent  
Windell, Russell Crouthamel, and Kyle Dunson, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
Jeremy Marcus; Consumer Protection Counsel, P.A.;  
Omni Management Partners, LLC; Breeze Financial  
Solutions, Inc.; Cockburn & Associates LLC; Instahelp  
America, Inc; Credit Health Plan; Aegis Florida f/k/a  
Aegis Legal Center, LLC; 321 Financial f/k/a 321  
Loans, Inc.; Gregory Fishman; Debt Be Gone LLC;  
Otto Berges, Berges Law Group, P.A.; and Kerr Law Group. 
 
 Defendants. 
 
    /   
 
 

COMPLAINT 

NOW COME, Plaintiffs by and through their attorneys, DeLadurantey Law Office, LLC 

and Van Horn Law Group LLC, and complains of Defendants and alleges to the best of their 

knowledge, information and belief formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, 

the following:  

INTRODUCTION 

Nature of the Action 

1. This lawsuit arises from the Defendants acting in a concerted manner to sell, 

provide, and perform illegal credit repair to consumers. 

2. Causes of Action herein are brought under the Credit Repair Organizations Act 

(“CROA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1679 et seq.; the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse 
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Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §6101 et seq.; fraud; negligent misrepresentation; fraudulent 

inducement; unjust enrichment; and civil conspiracy. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

3. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, because the case arises 

under the laws of the United States.  This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1679i(1), as it is an action to enforce liability created by CROA within five years from the date 

on which the violation occurred. 

4. This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §6104(a), as it is an action 

to enforce liability created within three years from the date on which the violation was 

discovered. 

5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims under 28 

U.S.C. § 1367, because the claims are related to the federal claims as they arise under the same 

set of facts. Thus they are part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United 

States Constitution. 

6. Venue in this Court is appropriate pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because 

this is where the defendants reside. 

7. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c), a defendant corporation shall be deemed to reside in 

any judicial district in which it is subject to personal jurisdiction.  The corporate defendants are 

Florida corporations and are subject to personal jurisdiction in Florida.  

Parties 

8. Plaintiff Joshua Sindoni (hereinafter “Mr. Sindoni”) is a natural person who 

resides in the State of Massachusetts. 
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9. Plaintiff Amy Sindoni (hereinafter “Mrs. Sindoni”) is a natural person who 

resides in the State of Massachusetts. 

10. Plaintiff Vincent Windell (hereinafter “Mr. Windell”) is a natural person who 

resides in the State of Indiana. 

11. Plaintiff Russell Crouthamel (hereinafter “Mr. Crouthamel”) is a natural person 

who resides in the State of Pennsylvania.  

12. Plaintiff Kyle Dunson (hereinafter “Mr. Dunson”) is a natural person who resides 

in the State of California. 

13. Defendant Jeremy Marcus is an individual with an address of 630 SE 25th Ave, 

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301. 

14. Defendant Consumer Protection Counsel, P.A. (“Defendant CPC”) is a Florida 

company with a principal place of business at 500 E. Broward Blvd, Suite 1710, Fort 

Lauderdale, FL 33394 and a registered agent of Otto E. Berges, 255 Evernia St. #502, West Palm 

Beach, FL 33401.   

15. Defendant Omni Management Partners, LLC is a Florida company with a 

principal place of business of 1410 SW 3rd St., Ste. 800, Pompano Breach, FL 33069, and a 

registered agent of Seth Ellis, 4755 Technology Way, Suite 205, Boca Raton, FL 33431. 

16. Defendant Breeze Financial Solutions, Inc. is a Florida company with a principal 

place of business of 1410 SW 3rd St., Ste. 800, Pompano Breach, FL 33069, and a registered 

agent of Seth Ellis, 4755 Technology Way, Suite 205, Boca Raton, FL 33431. 

17. Defendant Cockburn & Associate LLC is a business with a principal office of 

1410 SW 3rd Street, Pompano Beach, FL 33069, and a registered agent of Jeremy Marcus, 1410 

SW 3rd Street, Pompano Beach, FL 33069. 
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18. Defendant Instahelp America, Inc. is a business with a principal office of 1410 

SW 3rd Street, Pompano Beach, FL 33069, and a registered agent of Seth E. Ellis, Esq., 4755 

Technology Way #205, Boca Raton, FL 33431. 

19. Defendant Credit Health Plan is owned by Defendant Breeze Financial Solutions, 

with a principal place of business of 1410 SW 3rd St., Ste. 800, Pompano Breach, FL 33069, and 

a registered agent of Seth Ellis, 4755 Technology Way, Suite 205, Boca Raton, FL 33431. 

20. Defendant Credit Health Plan provides goods and services of “[c]redit recovery 

and collection; credit reporting services; credit risk management; evaluation of credit bureau 

data; financial services, namely, credit repair and restoration.”  

https://www.trademarks411.com/marks/86793121-credit-health-plan 

21. Defendant Aegis Florida, f/k/a Aegis Legal Center, LLC is a Florida corporation 

with a principal address of 1451 W. Cypress Creek Rd., Suite 211, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309, 

and a Registered Agent of Otto Berges, 1451 W. Cypress Creek Rd., Suite 211, Fort Lauderdale, 

FL 33309. 

22. Defendant 321 Financial, f/k/a 321 Loans, Inc. (hereinafter “Defendant 321 

Loans”) is a Florida corporation with a principal address of 1410 SW 3rd Street, Pompano Beach, 

FL 33069, and a registered agent of Seth Ellis, 4755 Technology Way, Suite 205, Boca Raton, 

FL 33431. 

23. Defendant Gregory Fishman is a natural person who owns Debt Be Gone LLC, a 

Florida corporation with a principal place of business at 900 E. Atlantic Ave., Suite 7, Delray 

Beach, FL 33483. 

24. Defendant Debt Be Gone LLC (“Defendant Debt Be Gone”) is a Florida 

corporation with a principal place of business at 900 E. Atlantic Ave., Suite 7, Delray Beach, FL 
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33483 and a registered agent of Benjamin P. Zuckerman, Berger Singerman, 2650 N. Military 

Trail, Suite 240, Boca Raton, FL 33431.   

25. Defendant Otto Berges is a natural person who owns Berges Law Group P.A. and 

Consumer Protection Counsel, Florida corporations.  He has an address of 1551 N. Flagler Dr., 

No. 1103, West Palm Beach, FL 33401. 

26. Defendant Berges Law Group P.A. (“Defendant Berges Law Group”) is a Florida 

company with a principal place of business at 4701 N. Federal Hwy, Suite 300 #A10, Pompano 

Beach, FL 33064 and a registered agent of Otto E. Berges, 1551 N. Flagler Dr., No. 1103, West 

Palm Beach, FL 33401.   

27. Kerr Law Group is a Florida Company with a principle place of business at 101 

NE 3rd Ave., Suite 1500, Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 and a registered agent of Robert Kerr, 101 

NE 3rd Ave., Suite 1500, Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301. 

28. Various of the above defendants, like Otto Berges, Berges Law Group, Consumer 

Protection Counsel, Greg Fishman, and Debt Be Gone, have been previously sued for violations 

of CROA. 

29. Otto Berges, Berges Law Group, Consumer Protection Counsel, and Debt Be 

Gone all received a federal jury verdict and judgment against them in 2015 for violating CROA.  

30. Since that point in time, the Defendants have since engaged in fraudulent schemes 

to defraud consumers with promises of debt relief and credit repair. 

31. The Defendants have agreed to act together to provide unlawful credit repair 

services. 

32. The Defendants have agreed to act together to provide fraudulent debt relief 

services.  
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33. Defendants have schemed to operate in concert to provide the fraudulent services 

promised orally and in various contracts, while later performing services that have no ability to 

fulfill the services contractually promised. 

34. Defendants operate their business out of shared “call center” environments, using 

shared equipment, computer software, HR resources, management, sales and marketing, and 

employees.  This allows them to “flip” clients between companies, should one of the companies 

get sued for a violation of the law or bad publicity that requires them to get rid of their clients.  

35. Defendants all know that the services they provided to Plaintiffs are merely 

churning out form letters that make no legal or rationale sense; and that these form letters are 

sent by minimally trained employees who are subject to inadequate supervision. 

36. Defendants all know that the services they provide to Plaintiffs do not comport 

with the promises made during the solicitation and sales of the services to Plaintiffs, but they 

knowingly accepted money from Plaintiffs. Defendants know that the terms of the contracts 

would and could not be performed, but they nonetheless made the promises in exchange for 

money.  Defendants had no reasonable belief that the sales and contractual promises made to the 

clients could be performed.  This is because the Defendants are operating together in a civil 

conspiracy to provide illegal and ineffective credit repair services.  

Factual Allegations – Joshua and Amy Sindoni 

37. In the spring of 2014, Defendant CPC began calling Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni, 

advertising their credit repair and debt relief services.  Defendant CPC agents called Mr. and 

Mrs. Sindoni repeatedly – many times per week, and often daily.  
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38. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni were in a vulnerable position at the time due to their heavy 

student debt burdens, and after rejecting Defendant CPC’s initial series of marketing calls, they 

eventually relented to hear CPC’s proposals. 

39. Defendant CPC advised Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni to stop paying their private student 

loans, which were at that time all current, and to instead pay fees to Defendant CPC.  

40. Defendant CPC promised that in return, Defendant CPC would be able to get their 

student loans discharged or resolved.  Defendant CPC never advised Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni that 

that they would suffer negative credit consequences; that their cosigners would also suffer 

negative credit consequences; that they would remain fully legally responsible for their student 

loans; and that getting their student loans discharged was not only not guaranteed, it was 

unlikely.  They were advised that the loans would not go into default.  

41. Defendant CPC heavily pressured Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni to sign a contract with 

CPC, which they eventually did in 2014. 

42. As part of the contract services rendered, Defendant CPC disputed information on 

Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni credit files with the credit reporting agencies. 

43. Defendant Omni began contacting Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni in the fall of 2015, 

informing Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni that they were taking over Defendant CPC’s services and would 

continue to provide the same services as Defendant CPC. 

44. Defendant Omni promised Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni that if they continued to pay 

Omni, Omni would be able to get their student loans resolved or discharged, like Defendant CPC 

had promised.  They also promised improved credit and promised that while Defendant Omni 

represented them, the Sindonis’ creditors could not report to credit reporting agencies. 
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45. Defendant Omni harassed and threated Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni until they were 

pressured into signing a new contract.  Defendant Omni called Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni repeatedly, 

and often daily, during the fall of 2015.  Defendant Omni’s agents told Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni that 

if they didn’t sign the new contract with Defendant Omni that Defendant Omni would send 

letters to their student loan creditors allowing the creditors to attack and harass Mr. and Mrs. 

Sindoni, their cosigners, their family, and their credit.  Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni felt scared, 

pressured, and threatened.  Under duress, they begrudgingly signed a new contract with 

Defendant Omni in November 2015.  

46. The contract between Mr. Sindoni and Defendant Omni called for a fee of 

$35,000, payable in installments (e.g., $350/month for 100 months).  The contract between Mrs. 

Sindoni and Defendant Omni called for a fee of $26,560 payable over 64 months at $415/month. 

47. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni came to realize that their relationship with Defendants CPC 

and Omni had been to their detriment.  Before, they had been in good standing on their student 

loans.  Having paid thousands of dollars to Defendant CPC and Omni by the spring of 2016, 

their student loans were now in default, their credit reports (and that of their cosigners) were 

severely damaged, and their student loan accounts were placed with a collections law firm.  

48. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni were also required to sign a contract with Defendant Breeze 

Financial. 

49. Defendant Breeze Financial specifically operates as the credit repair branch of 

Defendant Omni.  In an attempt to skirt compliance with the Credit Repair Organizations Act, 

Defendant Breeze Financial provides credit repair for Defendant Omni. 

50. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni received requests for more documentation from Defendants 

Cockburn & Associates, Instahelp America, Breeze Financial, Credit Health Plan, Aegis Florida, 
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and 321 Financial.  Each of these requests stated that the company would challenge any 

inaccurate negative information on the client’s credit.  Each letter referred to a “Credit and 

Monitoring Credit Correction Program” and requested that certain information be emailed in 

order to proceed and that “without this information we are unable to proceed with the credit 

dispute process.”  All but one request (from Defendant Credit Health Plan) directs the client to 

fax information to (954) 343-6377 or email to creditdocs@myclientservices.org.   

51. The Defendants submitted credit disputes on Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni’s behalf to the 

consumer reporting agencies (Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion). 

52. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni conducted research and concluded that the fees Defendant 

Omni was charging were clearly excessive, and that contrary to Omni’s promises, they remained 

legally responsible for their student loans and there were no guarantees that their loans would 

ever be resolved or discharged.  Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni realized that none of the services promised 

to them (during the sales solicitations made to them, or in their agreement with the Defendants) 

were actually being performed or could even possibly be performed.  

53. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni notified Defendant Omni in March of 2016 that they would 

be canceling their contract for services with Defendant Omni and would be proceeding on their 

own; they requested a refund of fees already paid. 

54. After receiving this notification, Defendant Omni began repeatedly calling Mr. 

and Mrs. Sindoni on their cell phones, one to two times per day on average.  Defendant Omni 

agents threatened Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni, and Defendant Omni continued to try to debit Mr. and 

Mrs. Sindoni’s bank account for payment of the monthly installment fee, even after Mr. and Mrs. 

Sindoni notified Defendant Omni of their intent to cancel and instructed Defendant Omni to 

cease automatic monthly payments.  
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55. Defendant Omni nevertheless debited Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni’s bank accounts on 

March 15, 2016 and March 25, 2016; both debits occurred after Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni had 

rescinded their authorization for Omni to withdraw funds from their account.  Mr. and Mrs. 

Sindoni had to dispute these withdrawals with their bank.  

56. Omni continued to try to withdraw funds from their bank account thereafter, but 

Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni’s bank was able to prevent these withdrawals from successfully going 

through. 

57. Throughout April, May, and June of 2016, Omni continued to subject Mr. and 

Mrs. Sindoni to a barrage of phone call harassment. At one point, Omni and its agents called Mr. 

and Mrs. Sindoni seven times in a four-hour period on a single day.  

58. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni repeatedly notified Omni agents to stop calling them, and 

they directed Omni to their attorney.  Omni’s harassment nevertheless continued with multiple 

phone calls and text messages on a daily basis. 

59. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni, through their attorney, sent a “Cease and Desist” letter to 

Omni dated May 18, 2016 via Certified Mail, which was confirmed delivered to Omni on May 

23, 2016.  The letter notified Omni that an attorney represented Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni; the letter 

rescinded all permissions to contact Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni, including by cell phone; and it 

directed Omni to only communicate with their attorney.  

60. After receiving this letter, Omni nevertheless continued to directly harass Mr. and 

Mrs. Sindoni by phone, including by calling and text-messaging them on their cell phones. 

61. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni’s attorney subsequently sent a “Power of Attorney” letter 

signed and dated May 29, 2016 by Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni, again notifying Omni that an attorney 

represented Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni and rescinding all permissions to contact Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni 
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directly; it again directed Omni to only communicate with their attorney. This letter was 

confirmed delivered to Omni on June 6, 2016.  

62. After receiving this letter, Omni nevertheless continued to directly harass Mr. and 

Mrs. Sindoni by phone, including by calling and text-messaging them on their cell phones. 

63. Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni paid a total of approximately $24,000 on the contract. 

64. As a result of the Defendants actions, Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni have suffered damage 

to their credit scores and credit worthiness, as well as emotional distress, harassment, abuse, loss 

of money, and increase balances. 

65. All of the Defendants involved with Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni were working together 

to induce Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni to sign up and continue making payments, while not performing 

any of the services actually promised.  Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni relied upon the Defendants’ 

promises to fix their credit, but the Defendants knew or should have known that the promises 

could not be fulfilled.  Despite this knowledge, the Defendants continued to take money from 

Mr. and Mrs. Sindoni.  

Factual Allegations – Vincent Windell 

66. In 2013, Mr. Windell was searching the internet, looking for ways to deal with his 

debt. 

67. Several days later, Mr. Windell was contacted by Defendant Fishman on behalf of 

Defendant Debt Be Gone via email, and Mr. Windell called Defendant Fishman. 

68. Defendant Fishman stated that they were a debt elimination company, and that 

they could help him dismiss his debt and fix his credit. 

69.  Defendants Fishman and Debt Be Gone induced him to sign a contract with 

Defendants Berges and Berges Law Group. 
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70. In reliance on information from Defendants Fishman, Debt Be Gone, Berges, and 

Berges Law Group, Mr. Windell stopped making payments on his debt but instead paid on his 

contract with Defendants. 

71. Defendants Berges and Berges Law Group disputed information on Mr. Windell’s 

credit file with Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion. 

72. Mr. Windell paid a total of $16,600 on his contract, and is now paying a monthly 

maintenance fee of $56.  

73. Mr. Windell was subsequently sued by Discover, and Defendant U.S. Legal, an 

affiliate company of the Defendants, hired an attorney from Indiana to represent him. 

74. He had to pay an additional $300 for U.S. Legal to hire an attorney to represent 

him. 

75. Additionally, he was sued by J.H. Portfolio Debt Equities LLC, and he had to pay 

an additional $300 for representation at that time. 

76. In November 2015, Mr. Windell was contacted by Defendant Omni, who 

informed him that they were taking over his contract with Defendant Berges Law Group as 

Defendant Berges was “not compliant.” 

77. After Defendant Omni took over and required him to sign a new contract, they 

also told him that they were not affiliated with Defendant Berges Law Group. 

78. At the time he was required to sign a contract with Defendant Omni, he was also 

required to sign a contract with Defendant Breeze Financial. 

79. In August 2016, Defendant Omni requested a copy of his drivers license, social 

security card, and a recent utility bill. 
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80. When Mr. Windell asked why they were requesting these things, he received the 

following response from a Defendant Omni representative, “the reasons that Ur was require Ur 

drivers license  social security and recent utility bill its to send to the credit bureaus will 

understand that we are doing works on Ur credit report removing all inaccurate derogatory 

negative info placed on Ur account it will released to  you in no longer than 45 business days to 

Ur mailing box in a white plain envelope with an none return address on it.” 

81. However, even though Mr. Windell was told that his file was no longer with 

Defendant Berges Law Group, on September 23, 2016, he received an email from a Michele 

Rolle who works at Defendant Berges Law Group.  The email stated, “I am with Berges Law 

Group. This is regarding your Discover Bank lawsuit. Please return the documents as soon as 

possible. preferably by Friday.”  However, the email address he was to return the documents to 

was not one with Defendant Berges Law Group, but it was with Defendant Kerr Law Group. 

82. The Defendants submitted credit disputes on Mr. Windell’s behalf. 

83. The Defendants involved with Mr. Windell claim that they have gotten some of 

his debts dismissed, but in reality, the debts are not dismissed, only written off. 

84. As a result of the Defendants actions, Mr. Windell has suffered damage to his 

credit scores and credit worthiness, as well as emotional distress, harassment, abuse, loss of 

money, and increase balances. 

85. All of the Defendants involved with Mr. Windell were working together to induce 

Mr. Windell to sign up and continue making payments, while not performing any of the services 

actually promised.  Mr. Windell relied upon the Defendants’ promises to fix his credit, but the 

Defendant knew or should have known that the promises could not be fulfilled.  Despite this 

knowledge, the Defendants continued to take money from Mr. Windell.  
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Factual Allegations – Russell Crouthamel 

86. In early 2015, Mr. Crouthamel was online looking for help with his bills and 

credit. 

87. He received an email from Defendant 321 Loans stating that he had been 

approved for a debt consolidation loan. 

88. He spoke with them on the phone, and they assured him that as part of their 

services, his credit would be improved. 

89. They told him that by the end, his credit score would be between 700 and 800. 

90. In March 2015, Mr. Crouthamel signed contracts with Defendants 321 Loans, 

Helping America, US Legal Club, and Breeze Financial.   

91. Mr. Crouthamel believed he was signing up for debt relief and credit repair.   

92. Defendant 321 Loans operates as a service contract masquerading as a loan. 

93. Under the terms of the agreement, Mr. Crouthamel was to pay a monthly fee of 

$439.62, for a total of $42,402.44.  

94.  Under the terms of the contract with Defendant Helping America, Mr. 

Crouthamel agreed to pay $42,402.44. 

95. Mr. Crouthamel was also required to sign a contract with Defendant Breeze 

Financial. 

96. Defendant Breeze Financial specifically operates as the credit repair branch of 

Defendant Helping America.  In an effort to skirt compliance with the Credit Repair 

Organizations Act, Defendant Breeze Financial provides credit repair for Defendant Helping 

America. 
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97. The amount that he was to pay under this contract with Defendant Breeze 

Financial was $42,402.44. 

98. The Defendants submitted credit disputes on Mr. Crouthamel’s behalf to 

Experian, Equifax, and TransUnion. 

99. Mr. Crouthamel made several thousand dollars worth of payments, but stopped 

making payments when he realized that his credit was being hurt, not helped. 

100. Defendant 321 Loans had information reported to Mr. Crouthamel’s credit report 

concerning the “loan” he took out with them.  The tradeline showed that the loan was paid, 

however Mr. Crouthamel was never given any funds from Defendant 321 Loans to pay back. 

101. As a result of the Defendants’ actions, Mr. Crouthamel has suffered damage to his 

credit scores and credit worthiness, as well as emotional distress, harassment, abuse, loss of 

money, and increase balances. 

102. All of the Defendants involved with Mr. Crouthamel were working together to 

induce Mr. Crouthamel to sign up and continue making payments, while not performing any of 

the services actually promised.  Mr. Crouthamel relied upon the Defendants’ promises to fix his 

credit, but the Defendants knew or should have known that the promises could not be fulfilled.  

Despite this knowledge, the Defendants continued to take money from Mr. Crouthamel.  

Factual Allegations – Kyle Dunson 

103. In October 2014, Mr. Dunson signed contracts with Defendants 321 Loans, 

Helping America, and US Legal Club.   

104. Defendant 321 Loans promised to take care both of his debt and his wife’s debt. 

105. Defendant Helping America was authorized to dispute debt on his behalf. 

106. The Defendants submitted credit disputes on Mr. Dunson’s behalf. 
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107. Mr. Dunson paid approximately $21,000 in fees, but stopped making payments 

when he realized that his credit was being hurt, not helped. 

108. As a result of the Defendants’ actions, Mr. Dunson has suffered damage to his 

credit scores and credit worthiness, as well as emotional distress, harassment, abuse, loss of 

money, and increase balances. 

109. All of the Defendants involved with Mr. Dunson were working together to induce 

Mr. Dunson to sign up and continue making payments, while not performing any of the services 

actually promised.  Mr. Dunson relied upon the Defendants’ promises to fix his credit, but the 

Defendants knew or should have known that the promises could not be fulfilled.  Despite this 

knowledge, the Defendants continued to take money from Mr. Dunson.  

Jeremy Marcus – Allegations as to All Defendants 

110. Mr. Marcus is a self-proclaimed debt relief and credit repair expert.  

111. Mr. Marcus has been involved in number debt relief and credit repair scams.  This 

is evident by the fact that he owns and/or operates a number of the Defendants. 

112. Mr. Marcus has formed dozens of corporations over the years, as new corporate 

names are needed after the old corporations are either sued, subject to bad publicity, or subject to 

governmental investigations.  

113. Mr. Marcus is the “mastermind” behind the Defendants, and they operate under 

his control and direction. 

114. Mr. Marcus uses the Defendants to perpetrate his fraudulent credit repair services 

on consumers, like the Plaintiffs.  
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115. Mr. Marcus runs his corporations with no corporate formalities, instead treating 

them like alter egos of each other.  This is evident by the fact that the corporate shells keep 

changing, while the services rendered to consumers (like the Plaintiffs) do not.   

116. Mr. Marcus and the Defendants make promises of debt relief and credit repair to 

the Plaintiffs, while he knows full well that such services will not be rendered.  

117. Mr. Marcus and the Defendants take money from the Plaintiffs while they know 

full well that they are not providing the services required under the terms of their agreement with 

the Plaintiffs. 

118. Mr. Marcus regularly engages in the practice of law, and directs companies that 

provide “legal referral services” under the terms of their agreements with the Plaintiffs.  

119. Mr. Marcus has reaped millions of dollars from his fraudulent credit repair 

empire; all while knowing that he is defrauding consumers (like the Plaintiffs).  Mr. Marcus 

continues in this pattern and practice of running his ever-changing corporations to evade 

compliance with the law.  

120. Mr. Marcus is responsible for directing and controlling the affairs of all 

Defendants, while managing his call center employees that provide substandard services.  These 

services are comprised of harassing their “clients” (like the Plaintiffs) for their monthly 

payments, while merely sending out form letters that are legal gibberish.  Meanwhile, the 

employees send dispute letters for consumers (like the Plaintiffs) to Experian, Equifax, and 

TransUnion.  This is part of their goal to allegedly improve the consumers (like the Plaintiffs) 

credit. Mr. Marcus knows that these actions by the Defendants and their employees are doing 

nothing to actually help consumers (like the Plaintiffs).  
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121. Mr. Marcus has engaged in the practice of buying “books” of clients from lawyers 

that were previously providing debt relief services.  Some of those lawyers include Buttermore 

and Associates, Legal Helpers Debt Resolution, Wites and Kapatan, and Otto Berges.  After 

illegally buying clients (because as a non-lawyer, Mr. Marcus can’t practice law), Mr. Marcus 

harasses the individuals into signing a new contract.   

COUNT I - ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF 
THE FEDERAL CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS ACT 

 
122. This is an action for violation of 15 U.S.C. §1679b, et. Seq., known more 

commonly as the “Federal Credit Repair Organizations Act” (“CROA”). 

123. Plaintiffs reallege and reaffirm the above allegations as if set forth in full. 

124. At all times material hereto, each Plaintiff was a “consumer” as said term is 

defined under 15 U.S.C. §1679a(1). 

125. At all times material hereto, Defendants were a “credit repair organization” as 

said term is defined under 15 U.S.C. §1679a(3). 

126. At all times material hereto, Defendants were persons who used any 

instrumentality, interstate commerce or the mail to sell, provide or perform (or represents that 

such person can or will sell, provide or perform) any service in return for the payment of money 

or the value of consideration for the express or implied purpose of: 

(a) improving the credit, credit history or credit rating of a consumer; or 

(b)  providing advice or assistance to consumers with regard to any activity or service 

which includes the credit record, credit history and credit rating of the consumer. 

127. Defendants have violated the provision of 16 U.S.C. §1679b(a)(4) in that 

Defendants engaged in a business that constitutes or results in the commission of, or an attempt 

to commit, a fraud or deception on Plaintiffs in connection with the offer or sale of credit repair.   
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128. As a result of the acceptance of the payments made by Plaintiffs, Defendants 

received consideration from Plaintiffs prior to the performance of “any service” which 

Defendants had agreed to perform for Plaintiffs as a consumer before such service was fully 

performed in contravention of 15 U.S.C. §1679b(b). 

129. Defendants have violated the provisions of 15 U.S.C. §1679c in that Defendants 

did not provide a prior written statement advising Plaintiffs of their rights as consumers under 

state and federal law prior to the execution of the written contracts and they did not provide 

Plaintiffs with copies of the completed contract. 

130. Defendants have violated the provisions of 15 U.S.C. §1679e in failing to provide 

the required cancellation form.  

131. Under 15 U.S.C. §1679f, the contracts between Plaintiffs and Defendants are void 

and shall not be enforced. 

132. Defendants have violated the provisions of 15 U.S.C. §1679d in that Defendants 

did not obtain from Plaintiffs a written and dated contract with the terms and provisions required 

in said subsection of CROA. 

133. As a direct and proximate result of the violation of CROA by Defendants, 

Plaintiffs have been damaged.  

134. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1679g(a)(1), Plaintiffs are entitled to recover the amount 

of any actual damages sustained by Plaintiffs or the amount paid by Plaintiffs to Defendants as a 

credit repair organization. 

135. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1679g(a)(2), Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages in 

an amount as the Court may allow.  
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136. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1679g, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover reasonable 

attorney’s fees in the bringing of the instant action. 

 WHEREFORE, each Plaintiff demands individual judgment jointly and severally against 

each Defendant for: 

A. Actual and punitive damages to be established at trial pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1679g; 

B. Costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in accordance with 15 U.S.C. §1679g(a)(3); and 

C. Such other and further relief as justice may require. 

COUNT II - ACTION FOR FRAUD 

137. This is an action for fraud brought herein pursuant to the pendent jurisdiction of 

the Court. 

138. Plaintiffs reallege and reaffirm the above allegations as if set forth in full. 

139. As more fully described above, Defendants misrepresented material facts and 

made material omissions concerning the services to be provided by Defendants. 

140. Defendants knew that the representations set forth above were false or made such 

representations recklessly, and Defendants had no reasonable grounds for believing those 

representations to be true. 

141. Defendants knew that the above representations and omissions concerning 

the services of Defendants were material and important. 

142. Defendants intended to deceive Plaintiffs, who relied upon the 

misrepresentations and omission to his detriment. 

143. As a direct and proximate result of the fraud and non-disclosures by Defendants, 

Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages as described herein. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand individual judgment for actual and punitive damages 

against Defendants together with interest and costs. 

COUNT III - ACTION FOR NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION 
 

144. This is an action for negligent misrepresentation brought herein pursuant to the 

pendent jurisdiction of the Court. 

145. Plaintiffs reallege and reaffirm the above allegations as if set forth in full. 

146. As more particularly described above, Defendants misrepresented and failed to 

disclose material facts concerning the services to be provided by Defendants. 

147. Defendants believed the above statements to be true and to be complete but which 

were in fact false and incomplete. 

148. Defendants were negligent in making the statements and omissions concerning 

the services of Defendants.  Defendants should have known that the statements were false. 

149. Defendants, in making the statements concerning the services of Defendants, 

intended that Plaintiffs rely upon said statements. 

150. As a direct and proximate result of the negligent misrepresentations of the 

Defendants, Plaintiffs have suffered actual damages as described above. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand individual judgment for damages against Defendants 

together with interest and costs. 

COUNT IV- ACTION FOR FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT 
 

151. This is an action for fraudulent inducement brought herein pursuant to the pendent 

jurisdiction of the Court. 
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152. As more particularly described above, Defendants induced Plaintiffs into signing 

a contract by knowingly making misrepresentations of material fact and omitting material facts 

with the intent that those Plaintiffs relied on them to their detriment. 

153. Defendants’ misrepresentations of material fact and omissions of material fact 

were made and omitted with the intent that Plaintiffs rely on them, or be deceived by them to 

their detriment. 

154. Plaintiffs justifiably relied upon the misrepresentations to their detriment and 

further, had Plaintiffs been advised of the truth, Plaintiffs would not have entered into contracts 

with Defendant. 

155. As a result of the fraud and deceit by Defendants, Plaintiffs suffered actual 

damages as described above.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demands individual judgment for compensatory and punitive 

damages against Defendants together with interest and costs. 

COUNT V - ACTION FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT 
 

156. This is an action for unjust enrichment brought herein pursuant to the pendent 

jurisdiction of the Court. 

157. Plaintiffs have conferred a benefit on Defendants by paying for services offered 

by Defendants. 

158. Defendants have knowledge of the benefit conferred by Plaintiffs. 

159. Defendants have accepted and/or retained the benefit conferred by Plaintiffs. 

160. The circumstances are such that it would be inequitable for Defendants to retain 

the benefits without paying the fair value thereof. 
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161. Defendants have been unjustly enriched by the retention of the benefits paid by 

Plaintiffs. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand individual judgment jointly and severally against 

Defendants for damages, interest, and costs, and for such other and further relief as justice may 

require. 

COUNT VI - ACTION FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY 
 

162. This is an action for civil conspiracy brought herein pursuant to the pendent 

jurisdiction of the Court. 

163. Plaintiffs reallege and reaffirm the above allegations as if set forth in full. 

164. As more particularly described above, an agreement existed between the 

respective Defendants to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means, to-wit: the 

charging of an unlawful and unconscionable fee for “debt dismissal services” and “credit repair 

services” not in compliance with applicable federal laws.  

165. As a result of the conspiracy between the respective Defendants to violate federal 

consumer protection laws, Plaintiffs have been damaged as more particularly described above. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand individual judgment jointly and severally against 

Defendants for actual and punitive damages, interest, costs, and attorney’s fees as permitted by 

law and for such other and further relief as justice may require. 

Trial by Jury  
	

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiffs are entitled to, and hereby respectfully 

demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable.  

 

Dated this 16th day of January, 2017. 
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s/ Chad Thomas Van Horn  
Chad Thomas Van Horn 
FL# 64500 
chad@cvhlawgroup.com  
330 N. Andrews Ave., Ste. 450 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301-1012 
(954) 765-3166 

 

Nathan E. DeLadurantey (WI# 1063937) 
Heidi N. Miller (WI# 1087696) 
DeLadurantey Law Office, LLC 
735 W. Wisconsin Ave, Suite 720 
Milwaukee, WI  53233 
(414) 377-0515; (414) 755-0860 – Fax 
Nathan@dela-law.com 
Heidi@dela-law.com  
Pro hac vice motion pending 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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